Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1963

Ray Tanner v. Utah Poultry & Farmers Cooperative et al : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

this case, I am not going to now look
at it through another window, and try
to evaluate the testimony through another
window--that of mistake--as you now urge."

Section 78-12-26 (3) UCA 1953 provides:

"An action for relief on the ground of fraud or mistake; but the cause of action in such case shall not be deemed to have accrued until the discovery by the aggrieved party of the facts constituting the fraud or mistake."

POINT V. THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ACCEPT EVIDENCE RELATING TO ILIEGALLY WITHHELD SURPLUS IN THE FORM OF MARGINS FOR EACH OF .

THE YEARS INVOLVED IN THE ACTION.

The trial court refused to accept evidence as to plaintiff's claim for margins on the basis that the proffer came too late in the trial and that the issues had not been developed. (Line 1 -30, page 364 of the transcript) The evidence proffered included evidence that the defendant had illegally distributed margins; that the Articles of Incorporation and its By-Laws had not been followed (p 318-322 Trs.)

All the pleadings including the pre-trial

order contemplate issues involving margins which the plaintiff declared were due him. Plaintiff contends that the trial was conducted in an orderly and logical procedure; that the proffer of evidence which was rejected came in a reasonable sequence in the presentation of the evidence. This position was called to the court's attention, line 3-30, p. 362, line 23-30, p. 335.

If the defendant was surprised, it was his own responsibility as the avenues of discovery were available to him from the first mention of margins. Plaintiff in its conduct of the trial first presented evidence relating to the first five causes of action and admittedly was nearing the end of its presentation when he reached the sixth cause relating to margins.

The position of the plaintiff is that the

by its By-laws and Articles and requests the indulgence of the court to examine the entire transcript, p. 309 to 365. The By-Laws and Articles referred there to are in Exhibit 48-P.

POINT VI. THAT COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT WRONGFULLY PREJUDICED THE COURT AGAINST THE PLAINTIFF BY ACCUSING THE LATTER OF SURREPTITIOUSLY REMOVING AN EXHIBIT FROM THE COURT WHEN THERE WAS NO PROOF OR JUSTIFICATION OF FORESAID ALLEGATION.

This accusation is contained in Finding 17(e). There were over a hundred exhibits received in evidence, and these together with records and files of both parties were all over the court. Exhibit 29-P was plaintiff's exhibit, and a copy of this exhibit was brought forth by plaintiff after the original was discovered missing.

Defendant's counsel greatly prejudiced the plaintiff without justification by such accusation. The list of exhibits indicates that 29-P was misplaced.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

In all the business that plaintiff transacted with the defendant, he did so as a member and a patron of a cooperative organization. ing on the relationship between a cooperative and its members, the plaintiff believed defendant's representation that it would market his produce at the highest price prossible and make an accounting; that he would be entitled to all profits from the sale of his turkeys above the cost of handling and marketing; that the defendant would not profit at his expense. Defendant, however, now contends that it was dealing with plaintiff

at arms length and instead of marketing turkeys, it purchased them outright and was not obligated to account for the prices received.

The evidence cited above shows discrepancies in the amount of turkeys the defendant had in its freezers and the amount for which it paid the plaintiff. In addition, the market price of these turkeys compared with the price paid plaintiff shows a deficiency in all instances to the plaintiff. The defendant breeched its contract with the plaintiff by refusing to tell him where his turkeys were sold and the price it actually received for them. Defendant denies the shortage but is unable to explain the discrepancy because the records used are the defendant's own records. The defendant, however, glibly states if there was a discrepancy, plaintiff knew it in 1951. This

plaintiff had to bring the defendant into court on several occasions to get the freezer records or eviscerating records which only the defendant possessed. Prior to the discovery procedures used after the initiation of this action, plaintiff did not have any records which demonstrated the shortages. The plaintiff did feel that something was wrong with the prices received but was told that an accounting would be made.

It is inconceivable that plaintiff's auditor in 1951 had possession of the records the plaintiff obtained from the defendant by court order through a deposition of George Rudd. If the defendant had given the auditor the records in 1951, why did it so strenuously refuse to give the plaintiff the desired information. The con-

duct of the defendant has certainly not been that of a principal to an agent.

The defendant through its general manager states that it has destroyed all of its old records even though it has large amounts of undistributed assets (Exhibits 75-P thrugh 82-P) accumulated through the business transacted with its members including the plaintiff. These assets can only be distributed on basis of the records which defendant alleges it does not have.

Plaintiff contends that the unexplained discrepancies in the defendant's own records in light of the fiduciary relationship existing between the parties is sufficient to show enough fraud to toll the Statue of Limitations. But this together with the illegal departure of the defendant from its By-Laws and Articles of Incorporation in the

case. Plaintiff contends that if for some reason the court could not find fraud, that these facts demand an explanation which could only be answered by a holding of mistake. However, as indicated the court refused to even consider this possibility.

It is difficult to understand how the defendant can allege that it purchased turkeys outright from the plaintiff when in the same breath they admit charging the plaintiff a selling commission. And also in light of the nature of its organization when the purpose of the cooperative as set out in its Articles is: (Article 12, Exhibit 48)

"This Association shall be operated for the mutual benefit of its patrons, and all net margins, excess deductions, savings or increments, and the proceeds realized in excess of costs not needed to establish or maintain reasonable reserves for contingencies, operating capital. or other necessary purpose of the business shall be credited annually to the patrons of the association upon the basis of the respective contribution of each patron during such year to the business and margins of the association, or the permanent records of the association shall annually provide the necessary information for doing so at a later date; and such net margins, deductions, savings or increments, and excess proceeds, shall at all times be the property of the patrons, and not the property or profits of the Association."

Purchasing products outright and reselling for a profit as the defendant alleges it did is inconsistent with the tax status the defendant enjoys as a non-profit organization and doubly so with the contract it signed with the plaintiff.

Respectfully submitted,

CLARENCE J. FROST Attorney for Appellant 716 Newhouse Building Salt Lake City, Utah