1963

# Ray Tanner v. Utah Poultry & Farmers Cooperative et al : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

But the processing manifest (Loading & Packing Report, Exhibit 4P) showed 5,232 head as retained by defendant (see recap in the lower righthand corner on the next to the bottom line, opposite the word "total"), the identical number for which accounting was made in the settlement sheet on that flock, Exhibit 3P.

Search of the record has not revealed that plaintiff ever testified that he delivered for marketing any more than the 5,232 head for which an accounting was made in settlement sheet Exhibit 3P.

What mistake is plaintiff relying on to toll the Statute of Limitations? How can he be heard to complain that the court did not let him change his plea, thirteen years late, to one of mistake, unless some mistake is proven?

This alert, aggressive challenger is merely trying to take advantage of what he figures is defendant's mistake. Not that he testifies he delivered 460 head more than those for which we accounted. He merely hopes to take advantage of an error.

But there was no mistake. As Charles Rudd testified, he added these additional turkeys to the lot a customer had purchased from Mr. Tanner and temporarily they continued in Tanner's name (Tr. 731 L. 6 to 21, 733 L. 6 to 734 L. 20).

And so it was with the other claims of shortage, if these are the elements of mistake relied upon. Each has been dealt with and explained in defendant's argument to plaintiff's point one.

DEFENSE 2: MISTAKE WILL NOT TOLL STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS WHERE ITS ONLY FUNCTION IS TO TOLL THE STATUTE.

"A statute of limitation relating to an action for relief on the ground of mistake applies only to actions in which a mistake of fact is the basis or gravamen of the action, and not where the relief on the ground of mistake is merely incidental to, or involved in, another and real cause of action." 53 CJS p. 1069

In *People v. Union Oil Co.*, 310 P.2d 409, 48 Cal. 2d 476, an action was brought to recover interest paid on franchise tax refund, on the ground that payment resulted from a mistake by the Commissioner in interpreting the law. In affirming a recovery by the state below, the court said: (310 P.2d 413)

“(7) Defendant argues that while said mistake of law may have caused the improper interest payments, such mistake is merely incidental to plaintiff’s cause of action as one for money had and received, that no other ground of relief was available to plaintiff, and that therefore the two year statute of limitations applies. . . . But here the mistake of law is not a mere incident to plaintiff’s right to recover. Rather it is the very basis or gravamen of plaintiff’s action and if it were not for such mistake of law by the administrative officers, the cause of action would not have accrued. See *Ind. School District No. 1, etc. vs Common School District No. 1* (56 Idaho 426), 55 P. 2d 144, 148, 105 ALR 1267. Accordingly the applicable statute is the three year statute governing the action for relief on the ground of mistake. Code Civ. Proc. Sec. 338, subd. 4.”

The Utah case of *Haws v. Jensen*, 209 P.2d 229, 116 U. 212, seems in point. There a suit was filed against a daughter who received property from her mother for the benefit of the family, but after the death of the mother, refused to divide with the rest of the family. The court held that the action was one to impose a

constructive trust on the property because the daughter had never promised to divide it. Under these circumstances the court refused to apply the three year limitation applicable to fraud.

*Kamas Securities v. Taylor*, 226 P.2d 111, 119 U 241, was a case where this court distinguished between the application of the three year limit applicable for deceit and the general statute. The suit was brought against a secretary of a corporation for the loss of security (surrender of stock) pledged to secure a note, after the statute of limitation had run against the note. In applying the restriction of this section of the statute (Sec. 78-12-26-3) the court said on page 118 of the *Pacific Reports*:

"It is true that the allegations of the amended complaint charge that defendant employed deceit, but viewing the charge in its entirety it is clearly one of breach of a fiduciary duty which would mean that the four year statute of limitation would be applicable, 104-2-30. The contention that action was barred by [the three year] limitations was therefore properly overruled." (Matter in brackets, added.)

The action at bar is for the recovery of the value of turkeys which plaintiff now claims he delivered, and for which no accounting was made. The claim of fraud and mistake alike are interposed solely to toll the statute of limitations and not as the ground work for the re-



covery itself. Fraud and mistake are merely incidental to the relief sought. If the action was to reform a deed, or contract, because of fraud or mistake, there would be a case which could come under this statute. But the only purpose of urging either fraud or mistake was to escape the bar of the statute of limitations and that is not sufficient.

~~Neither fraud nor mistake is available to toll the statute, because the case is not based on either fraud or mistake, but on contract, oral or in writing.~~

### DEFENSE 3: MISTAKE WAS NOT WITHIN THE PLEADINGS NOR PRE-TRIAL ORDER.

~~Nowhere in the pleadings was mistake mentioned. In the amended complaint (Tr. 142) on which this action was tried, in the first cause of action, in characterizing defendant's actions, "deceit" was alleged (par. 5), "false representation" and "misrepresentation" (par. 5 and 6) and "fraudulently" and "fraudulent" (par. 10 and 11) and "falsity" in the Prayer.~~

~~In the second cause of action plaintiff used the words "falsely" (par. 4) "deceived" (par. 5) and "fraudulent action" (par. 8). In the third cause the plaintiff used the words "fraudulently represented" (par. 4), "wrongfully and unlawfully speculated" (par. 7), and~~

~~"defendant's fraudulent action" (par. 9). In the fourth cause, the plaintiff alleges "defendant . . . fraudulently stated" and "defrauding plaintiff" (par. 4), and "defendant . . . did defraud plaintiff" (par. 5), and "fraudulent action" (par. 7). In the fifth cause of action it is alleged concerning defendant's actions that it "fraudulent made . . . account" and "representation was false" (par. 4), and "falsity of defendant's statements" (par. 5) and of the "fraudulent action" (par. 6). There was plenty of fraud mentioned but no mistake.~~

~~For pre-trial the parties were before the court four times and later a fifth time on the newly filed "Sixth" cause of action, but nowhere is it alleged that mistake is a ground for tolling the statute of limitation. The whole action revolved around alleged fraud.~~

At the completion of his case and near the end of the ninth day of trial (the twelfth day was largely taken up in argument), when the court pointed out the deficiency of the evidence of fraud (Tr. 1159 L. 23 to 1160 L. 13, 26), plaintiff for the first time mentioned "mistake" (1161 L. 14 to 18). The court refused to permit the issues to be enlarged (Tr. 1161 L. 19).

Under Rule 15 (five lines down), it is set forth that pleadings can only be amended with leave of the court, or with consent of the adverse party. Neither was given here.

If plaintiff had been permitted to amend his complaint to include mistake it would have resulted in an entirely new cause (or causes) of action being brought into the case, many years after the statute of limitation had run against the newly alleged cause.

The matter was, under Rule 15, within the discretion of the trial court. The ruling of that court was adverse to broadening the issues still further. His discretion was amply justified.

APPELLANT'S POINT V is÷

~~"That the trial court erred in refusing to accept evidence relating to illegally withheld surplus in the form of margins for each of the years involved in the action."~~

DEFENSES:

1. This last-minute defense, appearing on the ninth day of trial, was not within the issues.
2. The interpretation claimed for the Utah Poultry Articles and By-Laws, is without a basis.
3. Whatever right plaintiff had is now barred by the Release given, the statute of limitations, and an ~~accord and satisfaction.~~

DEFENSE 1: THE ISSUE OF THE OBLIGATION TO REALLOCATE MARGINS TEN TO FIFTEEN YEARS AFTER THE INITIAL ALLOCATION, WAS FIRST PRESENTED IN THE LAWSUIT ON THE NINTH DAY OF TRIAL.

While it is true that margins were mentioned in the pleadings and pre-trial order, what was claimed about them? In the Amended Complaint filed on or about March 31, 1960, in the last of paragraph three of the Fifth Cause of Action (Tr. 147), it was alleged:

“3. . . . credits would be paid when Northwestern Turkey Growers Association accounted to the Utah Poultry & Farmers Cooperative.”

Somewhat similar allegations are found in the fourth paragraph of First and Second Causes of Action and paragraph five of the Third Cause of Action, and paragraph nine of the Fourth Cause of Action.

In plaintiff's second deposition (taken five weeks before the trial on April 14, 1962, although it appears 1961 on the title page thereof), plaintiff testified that that the Norbest patronage refund of margins when received from Norbest was to be turned over to the growers (p. 54, L. 14 to 17). When asked if C. K. Ferre said the producers were to get all margin refunds received from Norbest, plaintiff replied:

“That we would get our dividends, that we would get our margins, that we would get our interest certificates—the whole thing hinged on Norbest.” (P. 54, L. 21 to 23; see also in the same deposition p. 59 L. 19 to 25; p. 60 L. 2 to 8; p. 62 L. 5 to 10; p. 64 L. 28 to p. 65 L. 4.)

The margins and refunds referred to in the pleadings were further expanded on pre-trial (December 5, 1961) (Tr. 259 L. 4) to include a claim to participate in the “reserves and assets”, further defined as “unreasonable reserves and accumulations” (Tr. 277, L. 2).

But nowhere prior to Mr. Barker’s claim (Tr. 1074 L. 10 to 16) on the ninth day of trial was the issue broadened to include a claim to revamp the distribution of margins made ten to fifteen years earlier. This was not even suggested until the ninth day of trial. It was not within the issues.

## DEFENSE 2. THE INTERPRETATION OF THE ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS CLAIMED BY PLAINTIFF, IS WITHOUT BASIS.

Mr. Barker states his interpretation in this language:

“ . . . they (defendant) . . . allocated the net profit (Tr. 1074 L. 10, 12, 14, 18). Or net margins of a department, not of an [the] organ-

ization, but of a department to those people who do business with that department. Now I think very clearly the By-Laws we have just quoted requires all departments to be considered as a [single] unit . . ." (Insert in brackets added.)

Article XII of the Articles of Incorporation of defendant cooperative (Exh. 48, p. 7) as it appeared when plaintiff first became a member provided in part:

"This Association shall be operated for the mutual benefits of its patrons and all net margins . . . shall be credited annually to the patrons of the Association upon the basis of the respective contribution of each patron. . . ."

Article XIII provides:

"The property interests of the members in the assets of the Association shall be unequal and shall be fixed upon an *equitable* basis and shall be determined by reference to the source of such assets, the volume of business done with the producer and all other facts relating to the acquirement of such assets."

Observe, please, that the patrons' interest is to be fixed on "an *equitable* basis" and with "reference to the source of such assets" and the "respective contribution of each patron."

By-Law No. 16 (c) 1. provides that after the payment of "all expenses and costs of maintaining and operating the association . . . all net proceeds from marketing produce for patrons remaining undistributed shall be distributed to such patrons ratably according to the respective amounts of business done by each patron with the Association. . . ."

Does that By-Law say all departments must lump all their net proceeds or margins together in one common pot and let those patrons who have contributed nothing to the margins, share in that which the others have contributed? Where, in such an unfair and inequitable interpretation, is the "equitable basis" or the "reference to the source of such assets" as required in Article XIII *supra*? Or the distribution of margins "upon the basis of the respective contribution of each patron." (Article XII *supra*.) While it is urged that there is no conflict between the requirements of these Articles of Incorporation and the By-Law quoted, if there is any conflict, the provisions of the Article prevail.

"A by-law which is not thus consistent with the charter but is in conflict with and repugnant to it is void." 8 Fletcher, Corporations (per. Ed.) Sec. 4190, p. 723.

"By-laws inconsistent with the charter, articles of association or incorporation or governing statute are ultra vires void." Headnote, 18 CJS p. 604.

DEFENSE 3. WHATEVER RIGHT PLAINTIFF HAD IS NOW BARRED BY THE RELEASE OF OCTOBER 7, 1952 (EXHIBIT 66D), BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS AND AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION.

~~The defenses are all treated in greater detail below and reference is made to that part of this brief.~~

~~Certainly the last-minute attempt to enlarge the issues on the ninth day of the trial, and ten to fifteen years after the allocation was made and published, and involving the rights of hundreds, perhaps thousands of patrons and the refusal of the Court to permit this new issue does not entitle plaintiff to a new trial.~~

POINT VI—Plaintiff was prejudiced before the Court by defendant, due to the loss of a letter.

#### DEFENSES:

~~1. Inaccurate statements.~~

~~2. Bill of sale letter of March 20, 1951, was important.~~

~~3. Alleged prejudicial proceedings.~~



~~4. Plaintiff was the author of his own loss of credibility.~~

#### DEFENSE 1: INACCURATE STATEMENTS:

On his Brief, page 27, plaintiff makes three inaccurate statements. The first, concerning the disappearance of the bill of sale-letter of March 20, 1951, is:

“ . . . there were over a hundred exhibits in evidence. . . . ”

There were only 28 when plaintiff borrowed this disputed letter and had it marked as an exhibit. Then there were two more inaccuracies wherein plaintiff claimed that the lost exhibit (29P) and a photograph of it (52P) were plaintiff's exhibits. The exhibit in question was a bill of sale in the form of a letter signed by the plaintiff and addressed to defendant (See Exh. 52P, or for a clearer copy see Exh. 69D) on which a settlement (Exh. 24P) was made on 183,725 pounds of turkeys. The letter was addressed and delivered to defendant, and obviously belonged to defendant and not plaintiff, as plaintiff now claims. The letter was, in court, borrowed by plaintiff from defendant to introduce in evidence. It was marked as Exhibit 29P at plaintiff's request but was not identified or offered in evidence. (See undenied statement to that effect, Tr. 615 L. 12). The same was true of Exhibit 52P, the photograph of the lost letter. A verifax

photo of an unsigned carbon copy was first offered by plaintiff (Tr. 654 L. 15). Then defendant furnished the verifax copy of the signed letter (Tr. 682 L. 12 to 683 L. 16) which was thereupon substituted for the photo of the unsigned, carbon copy. Neither the signed bill of sale-letter (Exh. 29P) nor the verifax photo of it belonged to plaintiff, although he now so claims.

## DEFENSE 2: BILL OF SALE-LETTER OF MARCH 20, 1951 WAS IMPORTANT.

Plaintiff sued in his fourth cause of action (Tr. 147) for \$16,000 actual and \$5,000 punitive damages for alleged withholding of profits from handling his 1950 crop of turkeys. The 183,725 pounds of turkeys covered on Settlement Sheet dated March 20, 1951, was more than half of that crop. After the sale, the market rose (auditor's report of October 2, 1952, Exh. 28P, page 4). The defendant claimed a sale to it under the bill of sale-letter, dated March 20, 1951, addressed to it and signed by plaintiff, which letter was marked as Exhibit 29P, and then disappeared before being introduced. After its disappearance, plaintiff claimed that a verifax photo of an unsigned carbon copy of the lost exhibit was not the way the letter was when it was signed (Tr. 620 L. 9 to 11). Plaintiff testified that there were two different letters (Tr. 619 L. 23, 24), that the letter was changed as to selling to Utah Poultry (Tr. 842 L. 17, 18), that

the birds were not sold to defendant (Tr. 851 L. 29; 842 L. 17), that Nelson changed it so the birds could be marketed (Tr. 842 L. 12 to 14, 851 L. 24).

After the plaintiff obtained possession of Exhibit 29P, and it disappeared, at first plaintiff's counsel refused to admit that the carbon copy he first introduced as Exh. 52P, was a copy of the bill of sale-letter (Exh. 29P) but conceded it bore the same contents, the same message, plaintiff wasn't certain it was an exact copy, the representation and ideas were similar (Tr. 654 L. 27 to 655 L. 4). Later, when plaintiff testified the letter (Exh. 52P) was changed so the turkeys could be marketed (Tr. 851, L. 24) and that part of a paragraph was deleted and changed over the original letter "not that I had sold those turkeys to the Utah Poultry" (Tr. 851 L. 28 to 30), counsel for the plaintiff finally stated:

"I don't know about the change but all I can say is that Ray Tanner signed this letter." (Tr. 852 L. 8, 9)

referring to the verifax photo (Exh. 52P) of the lost Exhibit 29P.

So Exhibit 29P was important, because it established that plaintiff sold to defendant the turkeys covered by it and because the credibility of plaintiff's testimony was destroyed by his vacillation in testifying concerning its

contents after having possession of the original Exhibit 29P and the reluctant admissions as to the wording of the lost Exhibit 29P, after a photo of it (present Exh. 52P) had been produced.

~~DEFENSE 3: TRANSCRIPT OF ALLEGED PRE-JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS.~~

The transcript of the trial concerning the alleged prejudicing of the Court, is as follows (Tr. 615 L. 12):

~~“MR. CLAWSON: If the Court please, yesterday counsel requested of me a letter dated March the 20th, 1951, signed by Ray S. Tanner for introduction in Court. It was marked for introduction as Exhibit 28 as I recall.~~

~~“THE CLERK: 29~~

~~“MR. CLAWSON: It was not presented and I ask to have the letter returned to me please.~~

~~“Mr. FROST: Your Honor, I don't have the letter in my files. Now I don't know what happened to it. I thought it was together with my—with the other letter that I had here but it is not and my recollection that it was here this morning and I am at a loss to explain where this exhibit is.~~

~~"MR. CLAWSON: This is a letter over which there is controversy. The witness has denied signing any such letter. I am at a loss to understand why counsel would ask for the letter and then not introduce it, just to get it out of my possession. He didn't know I had it until I produces [produced] it at this time. (Word in brackets added.)~~

"THE COURT: Who is the letter written by?

"MR. CLAWSON: Ray S. Tanner, it was the sale of 183,000 pounds, the tail end of a 1950 crop."

(Tr. 616, L. 8):

"MR. FROST: . . . Now, he is implying that I had taken it and mislaid this letter and I have no desire, no intention of doing this whatsoever.

"MR. CLAWSON: That isn't a photostat of the letter you got yesterday, that is a photostat of a copy of the letter, an unsigned copy now.

"MR FROST: This is the letter we took from your files. This is the one I attempted to introduce and you objected to this.

~~"MR. CLAWSON: That isn't the one that was marked here yesterday."~~

~~"MR. FROST: No, I am not saying it is.  
This is a copy of that letter.~~

~~"MR. CLAWSON: It sure is but it isn't  
the letter. Now I would like the letter. I feel  
like I have been bilked, very frankly.~~

~~"MR. FROST: Well, I resent the remarks  
because it was his idea that the thing be brought  
up.~~

~~"MR. CLAWSON: It wasn't my idea that  
you asked me to introduce [produce] it and put it  
out where you could introduce it. It wasn't me  
that turned it over to the clerk to be marked."  
(Word in bracket added.)~~

#### DEFENSE 4: PLAINTIFF WAS THE AUTHOR OF HIS OWN LOSS OF CREDIBILITY.

If the plaintiff's cause was prejudiced before the court, it was because, after the original Exhibit 29 disappeared, plaintiff attempted to take advantage of the situation by claiming he did not sign the bill of sale-letter of March 20, 1951 (Exh. 29, Exh. 52), etc., as covered in Defense 2 next above.

This was only one of six instances set forth in paragraph 17, sub-paragraphs (a) to (f), of the Findings of Fact, wherein the court found:

“17. That the plaintiff’s testimony before the Court was not frank, but evasive and contradictory.”

Plaintiff was the author of his own loss of credibility.

ENTIRE ACTION IS BARRED BY RELEASE.

CONSIDERATION — SETTLEMENT OF UNLIQUIDATED OR DISPUTED CLAIM IS SUFFICIENT-LAW.

Black defines a liquidated account as:

“An account whereof the amount is certain and fixed, either by the act and agreement of the parties, or by operation of law.” Black Law Dictionary (Third Ed.) p. 1121.

In I Williston on Contracts (Rev. Ed.) Section 128, page 437, it is said:

“An unliquidated claim is one, the amount of which has not been fixed by agreement or cannot be exactly determined by the application of rules of arithmetic or of law.”

In the case of *Ashton v. Skeen*, 85 Utah 489, 39 P.2d 1073, at 1076, where the defendant had undertaken

a collection for 20% (or 30% if collected by suit), but sought to force his client to pay 50% for a rather difficult collection. The amount due having thus been liquidated, the court said:

“Before there can be an accord and satisfaction by acceptance of a less sum than claimed, there must be an unliquidated claim or a bona fide dispute as to the amount thereof. It is not necessary for the claim to be well founded, but it must be made in good faith, otherwise there is no consideration for an agreement to accept a less sum, and the agreement is void. See 1 C. J. 551 to 556, subparagraphs 71 to 77; Page on Contracts Sec. 615 to 620; Williston on Contracts, Sec. 129; Gray v. Bullen, 50 Utah 270, 167 P. 683; Rohwer v. Burrell, 42 Utah 510, 134 P. 573; Smoot v. Checketts, 41 Utah 211, 125 P. 412, Ann. Cas. 1915 C, 1113.”

Similarly in *Browning v. Equitable Life Assurance Society*, 94 Utah 532, 72 P. 2d 1060, where the insurance company sought to defend on the ground of a purported accord and satisfaction, and the question of consideration was raised, this court (page 1068 of the *Pacific Reporter*) said:

“Settlement of an unliquidated or disputed claim where the parties are apart in good faith presents such consideration.”



In *Gray v. Bullen*, 50 Utah 270, 167 P. 683, where the parties agreed in writing that the amount owing by several debtors, jointly, to the plaintiff was \$676, and a compromise was attempted by the payment to the plaintiff of \$50, by one of the debtors, accompanied by a signed release. It was held that the \$676 agreed upon could not be settled by the lesser amount. Concerning the matter of whether the account was liquidated, the court said (167 P. 683 at 684):

“The amount due was fixed and certain.”

In *Smoot v. Checketts*, 41 U. 211, 125 P. 412, a similar result was reached where one-third of an undisputed, liquidated labor claim was paid and a release in full was taken. Upon suit for the other two-thirds, the court refused to honor the release, saying (125 P. 413):

“When it is claimed that the payment by the debtor of a sum of money less than is due and owing to the creditor is a payment in full discharge of the entire amount due, a receipt acknowledging full payment standing alone is not controlling. If such a payment is based upon a sufficient independent consideration, or upon a *compromise of a disputed or an unliquidated claim* and under such circumstances the lesser sum is received as payment in discharge of the larger one, the payment is binding upon the creditor.”

## THERE WAS A DISPUTE OVER THE 1951 CROP OF TURKEYS.

In the settlement for the 1951 crop, plaintiff, after a five-week delay, received and accepted, in full settlement the sum of \$9,350.06. The plaintiff in the case at bar (Fifth Cause of the Complaint and the Amended Complaint) claimed there was \$4,000 (\$9,000, finally Tr. 148) more owing on the 1951 crop of turkeys. Obviously plaintiff has and does admit there was a dispute as to the amount due.

The plaintiff testified in the trial that there was a dispute over the 1951 crop (Tr. 1165 L. 3.) Plaintiff admitted in his deposition that there was a dispute over the 1951 crop of turkeys:

“We were having a dispute over that 1951 crop.” Plaintiff’s (1959) deposition, page 102, lines 12 and 13.

The trial court found (Findings of Fact, paragraph 7 f, Tr. 295):

“(f) That plaintiff testified there was a dispute and trouble over the 1951 crop.”

Since no objection was taken to that finding, objection to it is waived. *Christensen v. Christensen* 239 P 501, 65 U 597; *Eagle v. Burton*, 220 P 1069, 62 U 491; 5B CJS p. 132.

There was a dispute in the summer of 1952. Plaintiff hired I. E. Brockbank of Provo, who made demands upon defendant. (See Exhibits 14D and 16D, being letters dated June 14 and 24, 1952, from that lawyer demanding information as to turkeys sold.) A month later plaintiff also hired Warwick Lamoreaux,

“Q. I asked if prior, while this dispute was on with the Utah Poultry, and prior to signing the release introduced in evidence here, did you hire Mr. Lamoreaux to assist you in your efforts to get a successful culmination of the dispute?

“A. I did.” (Tr. 1185 L. 3 to 8.)

The Release, executed under date of October 7, 1952, was Exhibit 66D and was admitted (Tr. 827, L. 12). Before its execution, Mr. Lamoreaux made further demands on defendant (See Exh. 67D) in a letter dated July 23, 1952. Both of these lawyers were employed during the same period (see plaintiff's letter of August 25, 1952, Exh. 90D, in which he names both as his lawyers). A letter from Mr. Lamoreaux to plaintiff, dated August 11, 1952 (Exh. 91D) reported his findings to date and reflected the heightening friction between the parties. About the same time, plaintiff had Mr. Alan Mann, a Salt Lake certified public accountant, investigate defendant's records on the matters in litigation in this suit. He reported to plaintiff in his letter of August 21, 1952 (Exh. 17D). In this letter, Mr. Mann reported on the 1949 crop, and in the last paragraph thereof suggested

that before he did more work there should be a conference between Lamoreaux, plaintiff and himself—whether to plan further steps toward litigation or to drop the matter, is not clear.

Four days later, plaintiff wrote his threatening letter of August 25, 1952 (Exh. 90D) demanding that all records relative to his 1949, 1950 and 1951 crops be thrown open to his two attorneys, Mr. Lamoreaux and Mr. Brockbank, and his auditor, Mr. Mann, or he would "institute the necessary proceedings in a court of law to obtain the records." (Second paragraph of plaintiff's August 25, 1952 letter.)

This was the dispute, with its threat of court action, when defendant's letter of September 2, 1952 (Exh. 65D) with the settlement sheet (Exh. 32P) dated August 27, 1952, and check for \$9,350.06, were tendered in full settlement of all disputes, with directions in the letter to the Bank (Also Exh. 65D) not to deliver the check unless the Release was signed. A copy of the letter to the bank went to plaintiff, together with a copy of the Release (see the bottom of both letters for the names of the persons to whom copies were sent. See also plaintiff's admission of receipt of a copy of the letter to the bank: Tr. 1172 L. 9 to 13).

Certainly there was a dispute of significant proportions—one of sufficient size that plaintiff had two law-

yers and had his accountant investigate the records of defendant three times before he was willing to sign the Release. The settlement of the dispute, was sufficient consideration, as pointed out above in the Skeen case (39 P. 2d 1073 at 1076, and the Browning case 72 P. 2d 1060).

#### THERE WERE UNLIQUIDATED CLAIMS:

There were items which were not liquidated. Concerning this, the trial court in its Findings of Facts (Tr. 296) stated:

“7. . . . (i) That at the time of making up the final settlement for the 1951 crop (Exh. 32P) the credits to be allowed and the charges to be set off against the gross sales of plaintiff's 1951 crop were unliquidated and uncertain in the following items:

(w) Gross amount received by Utah Poultry on the several sales,

(x) Taxes,

(y) Insurance charges,

(z) Storage charges,

and that the amount to be paid by Utah Poultry to plaintiff on the marketing of the 1951 crop, was not one which had, at the time of tendering

such settlement sheet (Exhibit 32), been fixed by agreement between the parties, nor was it possible to determine the exact amount owing by the application of the rules of arithmetic or of law, and the amount owing was unliquidated and disputed."

The gross amount received on each of the sales in each cause of action was, and is even now, an unliquidated item. For instance concerning the Third Cause of Action see plaintiff's brief, page 10, below the middle, where he claims:

"Plaintiff contends that Exhibit 3P does not represent the full market price and that he is entitled to an accounting for actual price received on each classification of birds."

Also, the amount still claimed to be owing in the Fifth Cause of Action on the 1951 crop is about as much as that already paid (Tr. 828 L. 7 to 10). But there were other items in addition to these:

The taxes were not assessed to the grower but all bulked together and assessed to defendant and had to be allocated, and hence were unliquidated. In the last paragraph of his October 2, 1952 report (Exh. 28P) the auditor raised a question about the taxes, saying:

"The main office of the Utah Poultry has not yet secured for me the information on the

charges for property taxes in the amount of \$2,040, which was deducted from your settlement sheet of March 20, 1951. I will follow this further and send it to you."

As noted above, plaintiff has waived objection to the *finding* that the accounts were unliquidated at the time the defendant tendered the \$9,350.06, as being the amount it claimed to owe. That sum was unliquidated and disputed and hence was adequate consideration for the Release demanded in exchange therefor.

Note these matters about the last audit (Exh. 28D), the one made after the Release and check were tendered by defendant to plaintiff: The auditor was evidently instructed to make a complete audit of the three years (not just 1951 crop) as shown by the second paragraph of that report, where he wrote:

"Utah Poultry supplied me with all inventory cards and supporting data for the three years, 1949, 1950 and 1951." (page 1, paragraph 2)

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